### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case Nos.: SC07-1369 & SC08-256

Complainant,

v.

GERALD JOHN D'AMBROSIO

Respondent.

The Florida Bar File Nos.: 2008-50,083(15C)(OSC) and 2007-50,946(15C)

## **RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

KEVIN P. TYNAN, #710822 RICHARDSON & TYNAN, P.L.C. Attorneys for Respondent 8142 North University Drive Tamarac, FL 33321 954-721-7300

#

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS	
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	
ARGUMENT	
I. THE REFEREE COMMITTED ERROR BY DENYING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS CASE NO. SC08-256	
<ul> <li>II. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION OF GUILT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD OR CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE 20</li> <li>III. DISBARMENT IS UNREASONABLE AND CONSTITUTES</li> </ul>	
AN EXCESSIVE SANCTION	
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	
CERTIFICATION AS TO FONT SIZE AND STYLE	

# TABLE OF CASES AND CITATIONS

Cases	Page(s)
1.	Smith v. Smith, 934 So.2d 636, 649-41(Fla. 2d DCA 2006) 29
2.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Brown</i> , 635 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1991)
3.	<i>The Florida Bar v. D'Ambrosio</i> , 946 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2006) 21, 30
4.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Golden</i> , 563 So. 2d 81 (Fla.1990)
5.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Heptner</i> , 887 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 2004)
6.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Forrester</i> , 916 So.2d, 647 (Fla.2005) 31
7.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Kelly</i> , 813 So.2d 85 (Fla. 2002) 30
8.	<i>The Florida Bar v. McAtee</i> , 674 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1996)
9.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Neckman</i> , 616 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1993)
10.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Rood</i> , 678 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 1996)
11.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Rubin</i> , 362 So. 2d 12, 16 (Fla. 1978) 18, 19
12.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Spann</i> , 682 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 1996) 32, 33
13.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Thomas</i> , 698 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1997)
14.	<i>The Florida Bar v. Weisser</i> , 721 So.2d 1142 (Fla. 1998)

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Florida Bar, Appellee, will be referred to herein as "the Bar" or "The Florida Bar." Gerald John D'Ambrosio, Appellant, will be referred to as "Respondent." The symbol "RR" will be used to designate the Report of Referee. The symbol "TT1" will be used to designate the transcript of the final hearing held before the Referee on February 15, 2008. The symbol "TT2" will be used to designate the transcript of the Referee on May 9, 2008.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

The Report of Referee being appealed herein is based upon two distinct Florida Bar disciplinary actions that were presented to the Supreme Court and ultimately a Referee through two different methods.

The first case presented to the Referee, Supreme Court Case Number SC07-1369, was prosecuted by The Florida Bar as a contempt proceeding.<sup>1</sup> The Bar's July 20, 2007 Petition for Contempt and Order to Show Cause is based upon its receipt of a July 5, 2007 letter. The Honorable John J. Murphy was appointed to preside as Referee in this proceeding by order of the Honorable Victor Tobin, Chief Judge of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, entered on November 15, 2007. The final hearing was held on Friday, February 15, 2008.

The second case, Supreme Court Case Number SC08-256, presented to the Referee is actually the older of the two cases and was brought first to a grievance committee and later to the Court with the filing of a formal complaint.<sup>2</sup> The Florida Bar opened an investigative file on or about January 20, 2007, but failed to serve a formal complaint until February 14, 2008, which was one day prior to the trial of Supreme Court Case No. SC07-1369. Judge Murphy was appointed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This case will be referred to throughout this brief as the "contempt case" or will be referred to by its Supreme Court Case number.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This second case will be referred to as the "grievance case" or will be referred to by its Supreme Court Case Number.

serve as Referee for the grievance case by order of the Honorable Victor Tobin, Chief Judge of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, dated February 27, 2008. Upon appointment as Referee in the grievance case, the Referee immediately set the newly filed case for a status conference due to concerns regarding the manner of the Bar's timing in filing the case and the impact and relation of same to a sanction, if any, that might have been recommended in the contempt case that he had already heard on February 15, 2008.

The status conference was held on March 7, 2008, and it was agreed by both parties that should the case survive the motion to dismiss Respondent was preparing for immediate filing, then both cases would be considered simultaneously in deciding what, if any sanction, would be appropriate. This agreement is set forth in the Order entered by the Referee on March 14, 2008. After hearing on May 1, 2008, the Referee entered a written ruling denying Respondent's Motion to Dismiss on May 5, 2008. The grievance case proceeded to trial on May 9, 2008.

#### Case No. SC07-1369:

The Florida Bar filed a petition seeking to have Respondent held in contempt for violating the Supreme Court of Florida's October 19, 2006 Order suspending him from the practice of law for one year. See *The Florida Bar v*.

- 3 -

*D'Ambrosio*, 946 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 2006). Pursuant to the above referenced order, the Respondent was to cease practicing law no later than November 18, 2006.

#### **The Anglo BioTran Letter**

The Bar's original petition alleged that Respondent should be found in contempt because he authored and sent a letter dated June 28, 2007, to a California attorney, Gary Kurtz, Esquire.<sup>3</sup> See Exhibit 2 to the Bar's Petition. The letter is clearly the threshold issue to the resolution of whether or not Respondent engaged in the practice of law after the effective date of his suspension. The June 28, 2007 letter was clearly written at a time when the Respondent was a suspended member of The Florida Bar. It was written on a personal, not legal, letterhead that gave absolutely no indication that he was an attorney or that the address was a law office.

The location is former law office where Respondent remained after November 18, 2006, in order to conduct his non legal business affairs and personal matters. The premises was utilized as a sanctuary to Respondent during the difficult period of suspension, motivated by the urging of his wife who thought it best that he have a place to go during the day. That he had an ongoing leasehold obligation was a convenient and facilitating factor in the endeavor [TT1,p89,124-25]. All indicia of respondent's having been there as an attorney were removed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Bar's initial pleading misidentified Kurtz as a member of The Florida Bar. A point that the Bar later conceded was in error.

from the premises, as well as from his letterhead, telephone listings, etc. in compliance with the terms and conditions of his suspension[TT1,p19-20].

Respondent's signature on the letter dated June 28, 2007, was in his individual capacity only and did not include a designation of "Esq.", notwithstanding that on that date he remained a member in good standing of the New York State bar[TT1,p82-83;89-90].

The contents of the letter were gleaned from Respondent's own personal knowledge as a member of the Anglo Bio Tran organization, and not as an attorney. It provided the recipient with purely factual comment concerning the ongoing and aggrandizing dispute between his company, Anglo Bio Tran, and Gould Advertising, Mr. Kurtz' client. The subject matter of the communication involved infomercials and other dealings of the company that occurred in 2005 and 2006. These were matters in which Respondent had been deeply involved and to which he had substantially contributed in the decision-making processes that gave rise to the dispute.

To his subsequent regret, Respondent had inadvertently employed the phrase "counsel to" in the letter in an attempt to convey a non litigious tenor to attorney Kurtz [TT1,p91-92]. The letter clearly states that California counsel was being retained consistent with the fact that Respondent never represented in any manner that he was appearing in the capacity of an attorney. The topic of the letter

- 5 -

concerned a California lawsuit involving an alleged California breach of contract between a California plaintiff and a company based in London, England. The only nexus between this California legal matter and the state of Florida was that Respondent, a member of the board of directors and shareholder in Anglo BioTran wrote a letter to California counsel while he was in Florida [TT1,p93-94].

On June 28, 2007, the same day as the letter in the Bar's Exhibit 2 was written, Respondent received by facsimile a letter from attorney Kurtz in response thereto. See the Bar's Exhibit 6. Significantly, in the letter, Mr. Kurtz failed to address or refer to Respondent as an attorney [TT1,p94-95].

#### Complaint of Phyllis Folsom

The Florida Bar's second claim, not included in the Bar's original Petition for Order to Show Cause, was that the Respondent was engaged in the unlicensed practice of law in Florida based upon a letter written by Phyllis Folsom<sup>4</sup> to The Florida Bar, wherein Ms. Folsom claimed that she had surreptitiously called the Respondent's law office and attempted to hire him for a legal problem that she did not have. See Folsom July 30, 2007, letter to Bar Counsel. The Referee found that the Bar failed to introduce clear and convincing evidence of the claim and found Respondent not guilty of this charge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Folsom was a witness in the prior disciplinary action, and portions of the case that were overturned by the Supreme Court related to Ms. Folsom's son.

#### Case No. SC08-256:

On February 14, 2008, one day prior to the final hearing in the contempt case, The Florida Bar filed a two-count complaint against Respondent [the grievance case]. The record indicates that the Bar had opened its file in this matter over one year earlier, in or about January, 2007 and that Respondent's initial response to the Bar was dated February 6, 2007. The complaint indicates that the Bar took a sworn statement from Respondent on May 29, 2007, but the record reflects that the Bar made no meaningful effort to pursue the matter until the later part of the third quarter of 2007. On or about November 29, 2007, Grievance Committee 15C entered a finding of probable cause and The Florida Bar intentionally refrained from filing a formal complaint, strategically electing instead to delay for a period of two and a half months. The record reflects that the Bar's formal complaint in this action was docketed by the Supreme Court on February 14, 2008.

In the grievance case, the Bar alleges that Respondent engaged in the unlicensed practice of law in the State of Illinois, while the second count asserts that he made a misrepresentation to The Florida Bar relative to this alleged conduct, a matter that was abandoned at trial by the Bar. The record reflects that at all times material, Respondent was not licensed to practice law in the State of Illinois, nor had he sought admission on a *pro hac vice* basis. Further,

significantly, during the time-frame of the initial actions in this case, Respondent was a member in good standing with The Florida Bar. The record clearly reflects that his one-year suspension from the practice of law became effective on November 18, 2006.

While he was a member in good standing with The Florida Bar, Respondent consulted with Dr. Thomas Bolera concerning a claim for legal malpractice against an Illinois lawyer, one John J. Pcolinski. Respondent had represented Bolera on other matters and they have been personal friends for many years, having first met in 1996 or 1997 [TT2,p69]. The only testimony presented about this consultation came from Respondent. He stated that in 2004 they discussed the general nature of the malpractice claim after Dr. Bolero received a letter from an Illinois lawyer advising that Pcolinski had committed malpractice while representing Bolera in defense of a breach of lease matter [TT2,p18-19]. Respondent related to Bolera what the Florida law would be, but stridently urged him to seek advice as to the Illinois law.

Pcolinski had failed to abide by a discovery order and as a result was precluded by the trial court from presenting evidence of mitigating circumstances on behalf of Dr. Bolera [TT2,p19]. Respondent testified that Dr. Bolera, though a close friend, is "an intelligent individual who is incredibly cheap and doesn't want to use lawyers" [TT2,p69,lls9-10]. From 2004 to 2006, prior to his suspension,

- 8 -

Respondent continuously urged Dr. Bolera to get an Illinois lawyer [TT2,p20]. In September, 2006, while still an active member of the Florida and New York bars, Respondent provided Bolera with a form book of complaints by facsimile that he could complete and use, as well as a pro forma complaint from Westlaw that would be used in Florida, since Bolera remained intent on filing pro se. Respondent's efforts involved nothing more than computer generated research which was done prior to the effective date of Respondent's suspension [TT2,p21-23].

In August, 2006, in an effort to resolve the matter pre-litigation, and prior to his suspension, Respondent sent a letter to Mr. Pcolinski as a result of his consultations with Dr. Bolera. Throughout these efforts, Respondent continued to urge his friend to retain Illinois counsel [TT2,p20-21].

Eventually, a complaint was completed by Dr. Bolera and filed pro se in Illinois with no assistance from Respondent [TT2,p22]. In drafting the complaint, with Respondent's permission, Dr. Bolera gave Respondent's office address and telephone number as his contact information. Respondent gave his permission in deference to the multiple residences of Dr. Bolera and his heavy European travel schedule at that time. Respondent did not assist in the filing of the complaint for legal malpractice<sup>5</sup> or advance any funds related thereto. This complaint was dismissed with leave to amend [TT2,p25-26].

Dr. Bolera then returned to Respondent just after the effective date of his suspension, seeking assistance. Respondent informed him that his suspension prevented him from advising him in any way. At the insistence of Dr. Bolera, Respondent directed him to a paralegal for assistance in drafting an amended complaint. The uncontroverted evidence at trial was that the paralegal assisted Dr. Bolera and the amended complaint was filed by Dr. Bolera and served on Pcolinski without any assistance from Respondent [TT2,p26-27].

Respondent's only connection to the amended complaint occurred on or about November 30, 2006, when he notarized an affidavit produced by Dr. Bolera for filing in support of the amended complaint. In so doing, Respondent merely acknowledged and verified Bolera's signature, neither advising, counseling, reviewing, drafting, reading, or even commenting on the contents of the document. As a result, Respondent took no part in the drafting or filing of either the amended complaint or affidavit, a matter established by Respondent under direct examination by the Bar [TT2,p.28-29].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The malpractice action by Dr. Bolera against Pcolinski was based on Pcolinski's alleged failure to file a response to a discovery request and his failure to represent Bolera with competence and diligence. Dr. Bolera sustained substantial damages due to the inability to advance evidence of mitigating factors in regard to the landlord's conduct [TT2,p54-55].

In his complaint to the Bar, Pcolinski admitted that he had "no direct evidence of respondent's misconduct." Pcolinski admitted that it was only a matter of his belief [TT2.p.59]. He sent Respondent's letter to the Illinois Supreme Court, the body to which unethical conduct is reported in Illinois [TT2,p.59]. They responded that they did not have jurisdiction over a non Illinois lawyer. Next, Pcolinski sent the letter to the DuPage County State attorney's office and no action was ever taken [TT2,p.60]. Pcolinski testified that there has been no finding whatsoever in Illinois that Respondent ever engaged in the practice of law in Illinois [TT2,p.60,ll.20-24].

At trial, the only independent witness called by the Bar regarding the claim of the unlicensed practice of law in Illinois was Mr. Pcolinski, who readily admitted his assertions regarding the drafting and filing of the complaints against him were assumptions based at best on conjecture and speculation. Neither Dr. Bolera nor the paralegal, the only parties who truly had direct knowledge regarding the matters upon which the Bar's case was based, were called to buttress the Bar's burden of proving its allegations by clear and convincing evidence.

Respondent specifically denied that he drafted or filed the complaints and the Bar presented no direct evidence in contradiction of his testimony.

In the second count of the formal complaint in the grievance case, the Bar alleged that Respondent made a false statement to Bar counsel in a letter dated October 17, 2007, regarding his participation in the filing of the pro se complaint filed by Dr. Bolera. At the trial, Respondent's testimony totally vitiated the allegations and the Bar failed to offer testimony, documentary evidence or comment in support of the allegations, effectively abandoning the claim.

Notwithstanding the facts and evidence introduced at trial, the Referee found the Respondent guilty of the acts pled in the contempt case and the grievance case. In particular, the Referee found, regarding the Anglo Bio Tran letter, that the Respondent held himself out as a lawyer and practiced law after his suspension in disregard of this Court's "two prior Orders suspending him from such practice, and in contempt of the Supreme Court of Florida.<sup>6</sup> As to the grievance case the Referee found that the Respondent had committed the following substantive rule violations:

Rule 4-5.5(a) [A lawyer shall not practice law in a jurisdiction other than the lawyer's home state, in violation of the regulation of the legal profession in that jurisdiction, or in violation of the regulation of the legal profession in the lawyer's home state or assist another in doing so] and

Rule 4-8.4(c) [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, except that it shall not be professional misconduct for a lawyer for a criminal law enforcement agency or regulatory agency to advise others about or to supervise

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> As mentioned above, the Referee found the Respondent not guilty of the Folsom matter and neither party is appealing this finding.

another in an undercover investigation, unless prohibited by law or rule, and it shall not be professional misconduct for a lawyer employed in a capacity other than as a lawyer by a criminal law enforcement agency or regulatory agency to participate in an undercover investigation, unless prohibited by law or rule.

The Referee also found the following substantive rule violations and "catch all"

provisions:

Rule 3-4.2 [Violation of the Rules of Professional Conduct as adopted by the rules governing The Florida Bar is a cause for discipline.

Rule 3-4.3 [The standards of professional conduct to be observed by members of the bar are not limited to the observance of rules and avoidance of prohibited acts, and the enumeration herein of certain categories of misconduct as constituting grounds for discipline shall not be deemed to be all-inclusive nor shall the failure to specify any particular act of misconduct be construed as tolerance thereof. The commission by a lawyer of any act that is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice, whether the act is committed in the course of the attorney's relations as an attorney or otherwise, whether committed within or outside the state of Florida, and whether or not the act is a felony or misdemeanor, may constitute a cause for discipline.];

Rule 4-8.4(a) [A lawyer shall not violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another;] and

Rule 4-8.4(d) [A lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice, including to knowingly, or through callous indifference, disparage, humiliate, or discriminate against litigants, jurors, witnesses, court personnel, or other lawyers on any basis, including, but not limited to, on account of race, ethnicity, gender, religion, national origin, disability, marital status, sexual orientation, age, socioeconomic status, employment, or physical characteristic.].

After making the foregoing findings, the Referee recommended that Respondent be found in contempt of the Court's Order of suspension and recommending disbarment as an appropriate sanction.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Respondent fervently believes that the Referee's findings are not supported by the record or by the existing law. Consequently, he has filed this appeal seeking review of the Referee's factual findings, his findings of guilt and his sanction recommendation.

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