IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Supreme Court Case Nos. SC07-1369 & SC08-256

Complainant,

v.

GERALD JOHN D'AMBROSIO,

Respondent.

The Florida Bar File Nos. 2008-50,083(15C)(OSC) And 2007-50,946(15C)

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM A REPORT OF REFEREE

LORRAINE CHRISTINE HOFFMANN, #612669 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Avenue, Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309 (954) 772-2245

KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN, #200999 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 East Jefferson Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In the two cases at issue in the instant appeal, respondent appears before this Court burdened by a prior disciplinary record, as set forth in the Referee's Report. In 1994, he was admonished. In 1999, he received a public reprimand. In 2002, he was suspended for 90 days, for misrepresentation. In 2006, he was suspended for a year, for contempt of court and violation of the requirements of his (previous) 90-day suspension. In the instant case, the referee recommended respondent's disbarment — because of the gravity of his continued misconduct in the context of his cumulative disciplinary history. That disbarment recommendation is well-supported by the evidence, the case law, and *The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions*. Respondent should be disbarred.

When he engaged in the conduct charged in the (first) contempt case (SC07-1369), respondent was under a one-year suspension because, in the opinion of this Court, he had "demonstrated a complete disrespect for this disciplinary process," by failing to give notice of his (prior) 90-day suspension to his clients, the courts, and some opposing counsel." Notwithstanding the Court's strident sanction and implicit warning in that case, respondent disrespected and disregarded the Court's prohibition against continued practice and intentionally violated the Court's disciplinary Order—

again. He did this by continuing to occupy his former law office and by maintaining his law office telephone and fax numbers, after his suspension.² He did this by continuing to list his office address and telephone numbers in the White Pages of the local telephone books, and by maintaining this contact information on his business letterhead. And he did this by writing a letter to Gary A. Kurtz, at his law office in Woodland Hills, California, and beginning his June 28, 2007 letter to him with this sentence: "I am counsel to Anglo Bio-Tran" — even though respondent had been suspended from the practice of law months before.

In the second case consolidated for purposes of sanction recommendation (SC08-256), respondent practiced law in Illinois, where he was not (and had never been) admitted. In that case, in February 2005 (while respondent was still a member in good standing of The Florida Bar), Dr. Tom Bolera, respondent's friend and client, contemplated a legal malpractice action against his former counsel, John J. Pcolinski, an Illinois lawyer. Notwithstanding his inability to practice law in Illinois, respondent actively assisted Bolera in filing and amending a civil action against Pcolinski, in Illinois. [Respondent also testified that he assisted Bolera on another occasion, in an

Indeed, respondent testified that he renewed his (former) law office lease, months after his suspension, in March 2007. T2. 85

Oregon case. Respondent is not licensed to practice law in Oregon.] ³ Respondent provided this active assistance to Bolera by researching the (Illinois) law on the internet, counseling Bolera on the applicable statute of limitations, developing legal strategy, coordinating paralegal assistance, providing help with document and pleading preparation, and strategizing the prosecution of Bolera's civil claim. In furtherance of his aim to assist Bolera, respondent knowingly allowed Bolera to use respondent's law office address, telephone number and fax numbers as Bolera's own residential address, for the purposes of the Illinois action.

On February 15, 2005, respondent wrote a letter to Pcolinski, directed to his law office in Wheaton, Illinois. In this letter (written on respondent's Florida law office letterhead), respondent outlined his client's claim against Pcolinski, expressed his legal opinions about this claim, and directed Pcolinski to contact respondent to discuss the case. Respondent also directed Pcolinski to contact his malpractice carrier. Based on these facts, which are established by respondent himself, in his own words in his February 15, 2005 letter to Pcolinski, it was profoundly disingenuous for respondent to testify, at the final hearing in this cause and under oath, that Bolera's malpractice action against Pcolinski was advanced by Bolera alone, pro se.

³ See T2, page 21.

Under the applicable case law considered by the referee and cited in his report, there are certain precepts that should be followed in imposing Bar discipline. First, the judgment must be fair to society, providing both protection from harm and permitting the delivery of valuable legal services. Second, the disciplinary judgment must be fair to the respondent — as it punishes appropriately but encourages reformation and rehabilitation. Finally, the judgment imposed must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone, or could be tempted, to engaged in like violations. In this case, respondent has been prosecuted and disciplined, over and over, for ethical violations as a Florida lawyer. He has already been prosecuted, and harshly disciplined, for improper conduct during suspension. Because he was warned and punished before, and still continues to disregard the Orders of this Court, respondent has demonstrated that he is unfit to practice law. He cannot be reformed, and he will not be rehabilitated. Respondent must be disbarred.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE REFEREE CORRECTLY DENIED RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC08-256 [THE UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW COMPLAINT].

Respondent filed a motion to dismiss The Florida Bar's complaint in the same pleading in which he served his answer and affirmative defenses. Respondent's motion charged that The Florida Bar had strategically delayed the prosecution of its first case in order to try its two cases against respondent in tandem, "in an attempt to secure a harsher sanction." The blatant falsity of respondent's charge is demonstrated by respondent's own conduct — in expressly *agreeing to consolidate* the two separately filed and separately tried cases, for purposes of imposing sanctions. ⁴ Because the referee clearly remembered respondent's early charges of prohibited stacking, as well as his later contradictory agreement to consolidate the two cases, the referee took pains to highlight and clarify this issue at trial. In response to the referee's comment and request for assurance of sustained agreement on this point, respondent's

⁴ See Agreed Order Consolidating Cases for Disciplinary Recommendation and/or Report of Referee, as entered on March 14, 2008.

counsel restated (on the record) respondent's agreement to consolidate the cases. *See* T2. 96.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, The Florida Bar harbored no malicious intent in advancing its prosecution in this matter. It did not "stack" respondent's cases, and it neither created nor caused intentional delays. The first case The Florida Bar filed against respondent (in the instant matter) was the contempt action (SC07-1369), which was filed in the Supreme Court of Florida, via The Florida Bar's Petition for Contempt and Order to Show Cause, on July 20, 2007. The Court (which could have determined the matter without a referee referral) elected to make a circuit appointment on October 23, 2007. The intervening three-month delay was wholly outside the control of The Florida Bar and cannot, therefore, be construed as intentional conduct by The Florida Bar.

The Florida Bar's second case against respondent (in the instant matter) was the unlicensed practice of law case (SC08-256). The Florida Bar's investigation of this case was not completed until October 2, 2007. On that date, The Florida Bar prepared and served respondent with a notice of probable cause hearing, to take place before a Florida Bar grievance committee. On that date, and until October 23, 2007, The Florida Bar was still waiting for the Supreme Court's decision regarding the disposition of its contempt action against respondent. Accordingly, The Florida Bar

cannot be viewed as timing the filing of these matters in order to gain an advantage — or for any other purpose.⁵

Finally, it is noteworthy that while the two pending cases against respondent traveled to the referee separately, were tried separately, and would have been determined separately, the only reason that they were consolidated (and therefore "stacked") for purposes of disciplinary consideration is because respondent himself expressly agreed that this should occur.

The referee's order denying respondent's Motion to Dismiss [The Florida Bar's] Complaint is well supported by the cited case law and Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. In challenging the referee's denial of his motion to dismiss, respondent does not argue the sufficiency of his motion or the insufficiency of The Florida Bar's complaint. Instead, he argues that The Florida Bar "stacked" cases against him, in violation of The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 362 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 1978). Simply stated, and for the reasons set forth herein as well as in The Florida Bar's reply to respondent's motion to dismiss, Rubin does not apply in the instant case because The Florida Bar made no decision to withhold or delay prosecution. To the contrary, the referee considered and determined the two pending cases together because respondent asked

⁵ See The Florida Bar's Response to Respondent's Motion to Dismiss, as served on May 1, 2008

him to. Accordingly, the referee committed no error in allowing the parties to voluntarily consolidate the two pending matters, to allow respondent to receive a single (and combined) disciplinary recommendation. Because there had been no prohibited "stacking" of the two cases, and because this was the thrust of respondent's motion to dismiss, respondent's motion failed. The referee committed no error in his denial of respondent's motion to dismiss.

ISSUE II

THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION AS TO GUILT ARE WELL SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL RECORD EVIDENCE.

A referee's findings of fact regarding guilt carry a presumption of correctness that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without record support. The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 2000). This Court has the authority to review the record to determine whether "competent substantial evidence supports the referee's findings of fact and conclusions concerning guilt." The Florida Bar v. Cueto, 834 So. 2d 152 (Fla. 2002), *citing* The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 1998).

When this Court reviews the record, the party contesting the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt bears the burden of proving that the report of referee is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. *See* R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.7(c) (5). In order to prevail, an appellant must demonstrate either a lack of record evidence to support

the referee's findings and conclusions, or record evidence that clearly contradicts such findings and conclusions. The Florida Bar v. Feinberg, 760 So. 2d 933 (Fla. 2000), *quoting* The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So. 2d 1269, 1271 (Fla. 1998). In the instant case, The Florida Bar presented competent substantial evidence to support all of the referee's findings of guilt and disciplinary conclusions.

While respondent challenges all of the referee's factual findings in his initial brief, he fails to demonstrate that the referee's report is erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. Instead, he bases his argument on generalizations and his own testimony, as presented at the final hearing. This argument is ineffective and insufficient because respondent may not meet his burden of proving clearly erroneous findings by demonstrating that the record contains other evidence as well. The Florida Bar v. Senton, 882 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 2004); The Florida Bar v. Vining, 761 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 2000). This is because, in Bar disciplinary cases, the referee is charged with assessing the credibility of witnesses, based on their demeanor and other factors. The Florida Bar v. Fredericks, 731 So.2d 1249 (Fla. 1999); The Florida Bar v. Hayden, 583 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1991). In the instant case, the referee listened carefully to the testimony presented and scrutinized the documents received into evidence. Utilizing the discretion reserved unto him alone, the referee found The Florida Bar's evidence to be the more credible. Respondent may not vitiate the referee's determination, as to the

weight and substance of that evidence, by arguing that other evidence (however unsupported) exists in the record.

Although these are few, respondent does challenge some specific factual findings in his initial brief. The first of these is the referee's observation (as this determination does not constitute an actual finding of fact) that any discipline respondent will receive in the instant case will be cumulative — because of his prior disciplinary history. Respondent challenges the referee's acceptance of his prior disciplinary history as a "misinterpretation of the holding in the matter that resulted in Respondent's suspension." Respondent's argument is unpersuasive because the record evidence in support of respondent's disciplinary record is clear: The Florida Bar filed an unchallenged Affidavit of Prior Discipline, executed by The Florida Bar's record custodian.

Next, respondent challenged the referee's finding that respondent continued to occupy his (former) law office after his suspension. Again, respondent's challenge is trounced by his own testimony. Under direct examination by bar counsel as well as by his own lawyer, respondent repeatedly admitted that he remained in his former law office, using the same telephone and fax numbers, long after the effective date of his suspension. T1.19, 23, 89, T2. 10-12, 37-41. Under The Florida Bar's cross-

examination, respondent also admitted that he renewed the lease on his former law office, months after his suspension took effect. T2. 85.

Respondent's next factual challenge is directed to the referee's finding, at paragraph 9 of his report, that respondent wrote to California lawyer Gary Kurtz, Esq., during the term of respondent's suspension, as Anglo Bio-Tran's legal counsel. In disputing the finding, respondent urges the Court to accept his testimony on this issue as the more credible. The referee soundly rejected respondent's testimony, and clearly referenced the record evidence that supports his finding. Again, respondent is defeated by his own words. In this instance, the words are contained in his June 27, 2007 letter to Gary Kurtz, in evidence as T1 Exhibit 5: "I am counsel to Anglo BioTran."

In the section of his initial brief dealing with the unlicensed practice of law case, respondent advances a few more challenges to the referee's findings and conclusions. He complains that the referee had insufficient evidence to support his finding that respondent practiced law in Illinois, on behalf of Dr. Bolera. However, instead of pointing to a scarcity of record evidence (in support of his claim), respondent elects to debate the weight that the referee has given to the considerable record evidence in support of his factual finding on this point. Respondent applied this same, unsuccessful strategy to the referee's findings that respondent allowed Bolera to

use respondent's law office address as Bolera's residential address in the pleadings he filed against John Pcolinski, in Illinois.

Finally, respondent challenges the referee's judicial notice of Illinois law regarding the unlicensed practice of law, and relies on Smith v. Smith, 934 So. 2d 636 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). That case was determined by a Florida District Court of Appeal, and not the Supreme Court of Florida. Also, it was a civil divorce case, and not a quasi-judicial Florida Bar disciplinary proceeding. Finally, and most importantly, Smith bears no relevance to the issue of whether the referee correctly took judicial notice of Illinois law in the instant case. This Court has treated this issue, in the Bar disciplinary context, in The Florida Bar v. Tobkin, 944 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 2006). In that case, Tobkin argued that the Bar referee improperly considered the "unauthenticated" opinion of a Florida appellate court. In ruling against Tobkin, this Court stated that:

Because Bar disciplinary proceedings are quasi-judicial rather than civil or criminal, the referee is not bound by the technical rules of evidence. Consequently, a referee has wide latitude to admit or exclude evidence, *see* The Florida Bar v. Rotstein, 835 So. 2d 241, 244 (Fla. 2002); The Florida Bar v. Rendina, 583 So. 2d 314, 315 (Fla. 1991), and may consider any relevant evidence, including hearsay and the trial transcript or judgment in a civil proceeding. *See* The Florida Bar v. Vining, 707 So.2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So. 2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). A referee's decisions about the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. Rotstein, 835 So. 2d at 244.

* * *

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